# Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics

#### www.cambridge.org/qrb

# **Review**

Cite this article: Temussi PA, Martin SR and Pastore A (2025). Life and death of Yfh1: how cool is cold denaturation. *Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics*, **58**, e2, 1–13 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033583524000180

Received: 14 October 2024 Revised: 13 November 2024 Accepted: 17 November 2024

#### **Keywords:**

biophysics; cold denaturation; energy landscape; folding funnel; frataxin; protein stability

#### **Corresponding authors:**

Piero Andrea Temussi and Annalisa Pastore; Emails: annalisa.pastore@elettra.eu; temussi@unina.it

# Life and death of Yfh1: how cool is cold denaturation

Piero Andrea Temussi<sup>1</sup>, Stephen R. Martin<sup>2</sup> and Annalisa Pastore<sup>3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Universita' di Napoli 'Federico II', Napoli Italy; <sup>2</sup>The Francis Crick Institute, London UK; <sup>3</sup>Elettra Sincrotrone Trieste, Italy and <sup>4</sup>The Wohl Institute, King's College London, London, UK

## Abstract

Yeast frataxin (Yfh1) is a small natural protein from yeast that has the unusual property of undergoing cold denaturation at temperatures above the freezing point of water when under conditions of low ionic strength. This peculiarity, together with remarkable resilience, allows the determination, for the whole protein as well as for individual residues, of the stability curve, that is the temperature dependence of the free energy difference between the unfolded and folded forms. The ease of measuring stability curves without the need to add denaturants or introduce *ad hoc* destabilizing mutations makes this protein an ideal 'tool' for investigating the influence of many environmental factors on protein stability. The present review aims at recapitulating all the open questions that Yfh1 has helped to address, including understanding the differences and commonalities of the cold, heat and pressure unfolded states. This protein thus offers a unique tool for studying aspects of protein stability so far been considered difficult to assess and provides important guidelines that could allow the identification of other similar systems.

#### **Table of contents**

Introduction: cold denaturation, why it matters	1
Cold denaturation in a nutshell	2
The ID card of Yfh1	2
Comparison of the frataxin structures and their high-temperature stabilities	4
The marginal stability of Yfh1 and cold denaturation	5
Searching for the causes of cold denaturation of Yfh1	6
Cold denaturation: environment or molecularity?	7
Yfh1 as a unique tool in protein studies: the effect of alcohols	7
Cold denaturation as a way to explore molecular crowding	8
NMR studies of protein unfolding	8
Comparing unfolded states	9
Yet another unfolded state: pressure unfolding	9
The kinetics of folding of Yfh1	10
Stability or resilience? chance or necessity?	10
Conclusions: Yfh1 and beyond	11
•	

#### Introduction: cold denaturation, why it matters

The three-dimensional arrangement of proteins is crucial for their function. In a large number of cases, proteins adopt a defined, albeit not entirely rigid, structure. Understanding the determinants of protein fold stability, that is the ability to retain the three-dimensional structure in the face of environmental insults, is thus inherently essential for a deep understanding of the physical forces that determine protein fold. In in vitro studies, protein unfolding can be caused by different agents, such as for instance heat, pressure, or pH. Each of these agents can reveal specific regions of the energy landscape that determine the folding funnel (Finkelstein et al., 2022 and references therein). It is well-accepted that the mechanisms that lead the same protein to unfold under the influence of various denaturing agents are different and, accordingly, the ensembles of conformations of the unfolded states are expected to be different (Pastore & Temussi, 2022).

One of the most common denaturing agents used in biophysical studies of unfolding is heat: it is intuitive to expect that most mesophilic proteins unfold at temperatures higher than room temperature because the increase in temperature is known to disrupt many ordered structures. In contrast, lowering the temperature is usually assumed by default to increase stability. This is not true, as protein unfolding also occurs at low temperatures. Hints of the possible destabilization of proteins at low temperatures date back to the 30s. The identification of several early examples of proteins undergoing cold denaturation is quoted in a well-known

© The Author(s), 2025. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution and reproduction, provided the original article is properly cited.



review by the Russian Petr Privalov, one of the fathers of modern protein thermodynamics (Privalov, 1990). For instance, Hopkins reported that the rate of denaturation of ovalbumin by urea is higher at 0 °C than at 23 °C (Hopkins, 1930). This observation was soon backed up by several similar studies (Jacobsen and Christensen, 1948; Simpson and Kauzmann, 1953; Christensen, 1952; Nojima et al., 1977), but it took many more years before the existence of cold denaturation became fully accepted by the scientific community.

Despite its importance, it is clear that cold denaturation has received relatively little interest. This is mostly because its occurrence, for most mesophilic proteins, is expected at temperatures much lower than zero degrees. The most common way to observe cold denaturation has been to raise the temperature at which cold denaturation occurs, by destabilizing the protein through ad hoc mutations and/or by adding denaturants. For example, Antonino et al. (1991) observed cold denaturation in a mutant of staphylococcal nuclease, named NCA S28G, containing the point mutation Ser28->Gly. Hatley and Franks (1989) were able to observe cold denaturation of lactate dehydrogenase by adding large amounts of methanol. Several groups used guanidine hydrochloride to destabilize proteins. With this denaturant, Azuaga et al. (1992) observed cold denaturation of beta-lactoglobulin B, and Agashe and Udgaonkar (1995) measured cold denaturation of barstar. The drawback of this strategy, based on the artificial denaturation of proteins, is that denaturation occurs under conditions very different from physiological conditions.

In 2007, we identified a protein, Yfh1, whose cold denaturation occurs at temperatures close to room temperature and under (quasi) physiological conditions (Pastore, Martin, et al., 2007), having the two observable melting temperatures around 5 and 35 °C when studied in solutions of low ionic strength. Although these conditions are harsh on proteins which are usually exposed to appreciable ionic strength, low salt is in no way comparable or as disruptive as the addition of strong denaturants. The possibility of measuring both heat and cold denaturation allows the direct measurement of the  $\Delta$ Cp and hence the determination of the temperature dependence of the difference in free energy between the folded and unfolded states, known as the stability curve (Becktel & Schellman, 1987). In turn, the easy determination of the stability curve provides a better way of judging the influence of external factors on protein stability, much more significant than the single heat denaturation temperature or the parameter *m*, which is related to the increase in the degree of exposure of the protein upon chemical denaturation (Pace, 1986). Yfh1 is thus uniquely suited for making an in-depth characterization of the factors influencing the stability of a natural full-length protein, as a function of temperature and much more. Using Yfh1, the studies of unfolding caused by different agents on the same protein opened up the possibility of clarifying the nature of the different unfolded states and shedding light on the mechanisms of unfolding.

In the present review, we wish to summarize all of what has been learned about protein stability thanks to the unique properties of Yfh1 and describe in detail the open questions that Yfh1 has helped to address, together with the biophysical aspects that these studies clarified on the nature of protein stability.

#### Cold denaturation in a nutshell

The occurrence of the cold denaturation transition is a direct consequence, from a thermodynamic point of view, of the protein

stability curve that is described by the so-called modified Gibbs– Helmholtz equation:

$$\Delta G = \Delta H_m \left[ 1 - \frac{T}{T_m} \right] + \Delta C_p \left\{ (T - T_m) - T ln \left[ \frac{T}{T_m} \right] \right\}$$
(1)

where  $T_m$  is the temperature at the midpoint of the unfolding transition, and  $\Delta H_m$  is the unfolding enthalpy change at  $T_m$ . When both high and low temperature unfolding temperatures are accessible, it becomes possible to determine the heat capacity difference between the two states and thus calculate the full stability curve of the protein (Pastore et al., 2019).

Becktel and Schellman (1987) have shown that the free energy difference between the unfolded and the native state ( $\Delta G$ ), when plotted versus temperature, is bell-shaped and convex, with a maximum at a temperature of maximal stability that is close to room temperature  $(T_s)$  for proteins from mesophilic organisms. Therefore, destabilization of the native state occurs as the temperature varies from room temperature in either direction, when the curve crosses the two zero points of  $\Delta G$ . Analysis of the temperatures of unfolding of proteins both at high and low temperatures gives a better quantitative measure of stability and allows a more accurate identification of the effects of different denaturation agents: addition of, say, a co-solvent or introduction of a mutation may affect differently the cold and heat denaturation temperatures but also lower the Ts with an overall reduction of stability and cooperativity of the unfolding process. In 2017, Temussi and coworkers proposed the use of a single parameter to describe thermal stability considering the area of the stability curve between the two unfolding temperatures (Alfano et al., 2017). To compare areas, it is possible to calculate the integral of the stability curve described by Eq. (1) and calculate its value between  $T_{\rm c}$  and  $T_{\rm m}$ .

The integral is given by:

$$I = -\left(\Delta H_m \frac{T^2}{2T_m}\right) + \Delta H_m T - \frac{1}{2}\Delta C_p T^2 \ln\left(\frac{T}{T_m}\right) - \Delta C_p T_m T + \frac{3}{4}\Delta C_p T^2$$
(2)

Although empirical and without a direct physical meaning, this parameter is an assessment of the global thermodynamic stability within the entire temperature range of protein stability, rather than at a single temperature.

#### The ID card of Yfh1

Yfh1 is the yeast orthologue of frataxin and a member of a protein family highly conserved from bacteria to primates and involved in crucial metabolic processes, being essential for the biosynthesis of sulphur–iron clusters (Want et al., 2024). Human frataxin is associated with the recessive neurodegenerative disease Friedreich's ataxia (Pastore & Puccio, 2013). This disease is caused by a usually homozygous trinucleotide expansion in the non-coding region of the *FXR1* gene which leads to reduced expression levels of the protein. A minor percentage of Friedreich's ataxia patients (ca., 2%) is heterozygous with the expansion on one allele and missense mutations or truncations on the other. Frataxins are in fact small proteins that are so essential to metabolism that their reduced expression causes oxidative stress and hampers the formation of iron–sulphur clusters, heme synthesis, and mitochondrial function. In eukaryotes, they are nuclear-encoded, translated into the

Ecoli		21
Bcenocepacia	MSDMSD	21
Pingrahamii	MNDSEFIQLADQLYQKIEEKI	21
Scerevisiae	MIKR-SLASLVRVSSVMGRRIMIAAAGGERARFCPAVINKKNNTVNTFOKR-FVESSIDGOVVPDEVLNLPLEKYHEEADDYLDHLLDSL	88
Cthermophilum	-MGRVTAVRVARATRLGLORAOLSHVMSPSISPSFISISTHLKASITIPIPTRRFLSSSSSLKGITPDNKPRDSSGIEKSPKPATKPADITTAEVHRLADEVLDALLSRL	109
Dmelanogaster	MFAGRLMVRSIVGRACLAIMGRWSKPOAHASQVILPSTPAIAAVAIQCEEFIANRRLFSSQIETESILDGAIVERVCSDILDALCDYF	88
Hsapiens	MWILGRRA-VAGLLASPS-PAQAQTLTRVPRPAELAPLCGRRGLRIDIDATCTPRRASSNQRGLNQIWNVKKQSVYLMNLRKSGTLGHPGSLDEITYERLAEETLDSLAEFF	110
2014-1-1-1- <b>2</b> -1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1	11020304050607080901001101	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Ecoli	DDWDGDSDIDCEINGGVLTITFE-NGSKIIINNGEPLHQVWLATK-QGGYHFDLKGDEWICDRSGETFWDLLEQAATQQAGETVSFR	106
Bcenocepacia	DVANDGDHDIDLERNGSVLTLTFE-NGSKIIVNLOPPMKEVWIAAK-AGGFHYRFIDGEWRDTRTGTEFFSALTDYATQQAGLPITFSA	108
Pingrahamii	EESGADVDYDONGSLLTLEFE-NHTKLIINROOPLHOVWLATL-ENGHHYDYNNGKWIDDRSGDEFLTFLSAAIFKOSKETVDFTE	105
Scerevisiae	EELSEAHPD-CIPDVELSHGVMT-LEIPAFGTYVINKQPPNKQIWLASPLSGPNRFDLLNGEWVSLRNGTKLTDILTEEVEKAISK-SQ	174
Cthermophilum	EEL-QDEREDVDVEYQSGVLTLNMGPEVGTYVINKQPPNKQIWLSSPKSGPKRYDYVITGEGQNEKQDTAVGEWVYLRDGSTLNQLLLEEIGVDLNVPVSQD	210
Dmelanogaster	EELTENASELQCTDVAYSDCVLTVNLGCQHGTYVINRQTPNKQIWLSSPTSCPKRYDFVGTVAGRWIYKHSCQSLHELLQQEIPGILKSQSVDFLR-LPYCS	190
Hsapiens	EDLADKPYTFEDYDVSFGSGVLTVKLGGDLGTYVINKQTPNKQIWLSSPSSGPKRYDWTGKNWVYSHDGVSLHELLAAELTKALKT-KLDLSS-LAYSGKDA	210
	20130140150160170180190200210220230	

Figure 1. Multiple alignments of the sequences of organisms for which the 3D structure is now available. The first three sequences correspond to prokaryotic proteins, and the last four come from eukaryotes. The alignment shows clearly how the prokaryotes do not have a signal peptide that has been truncated during processing leaving in the mature protein an N-terminal tail that is absent in prokaryotes. Note that we are aligning the eukaryotic sequences before maturation which thus contain the signal peptides. The beginning of the mature forms of the human and yeast proteins are indicated with red and green arrows, respectively.

cytoplasm, and then imported into mitochondria, where they are matured. Accordingly, sequence alignment of the family has shown that frataxins have a rather variable N-terminus and a highly conserved globular C-terminal domain (Figure 1). The N-terminus is absent in prokaryotes and is a linker with the signal peptide that is eventually cleaved off after maturation. When present, this region is disordered and highly mobile as demonstrated for Yfh1 (Popovic et al., 2015).

The structures of frataxin orthologues from seven different species are currently available (Table 1). Three of them are from bacteria and four more are from eukaryotic organisms. The fold of the conserved domain is compact and globular with no cavities or grooves and contains a  $\beta$ -sheet of 5–7 strands packed against two helices that shield the hydrophobic face of the sheet together with a C-terminal tail (Figure 2). It was noted early on that 'This [C-terminus] must be crucial for the stability of the fold as it allows the formation of extensive interactions between the hydrophobic residues that are conserved in the frataxin family' (Musco et al.,

2000). It was in fact observed that different frataxin orthologues differ strongly in the length of the C-terminus. When present, this secondary structural element inserts in between the two terminal helices, thereby protecting the hydrophobic core.

Another hallmark of the family is that its members are acidic proteins with isoelectric points around 4.9 (Adinolfi et al., 2004). An even superficial look at the available structures shows that the negative charge distribution is uneven, with a high concentration on the first helix and the first two  $\beta$ -strands of the sheet (Figure 3A). Some of the negatively charged residues are semi-conserved and they all cluster on one side of the protein surface, encompassing the solvent-exposed face of the first helix and the beginning of the  $\beta$ -sheet (Musco et al., 2000). Remarkably, this is the same surface containing clinically important mutations (Musco et al., 2000). Given that the protein is monomeric in solution, the conservation of exposed residues could only be explained by the formation of a functional surface. In hindsight, we now know that this region is indeed needed to bind to iron and interact with a positively charged

Table 1. List of the available structures of frataxin orthologs with their PDB accession names and the relative reference
---

Protein	Organism	Technique	Remarks	References	PDB
CyaY	E. coli	X-ray		Cho et al. (2000)	1ew4
		NMR		Musco et al. (2000)	1soy
		X-ray	Eu, Co	Pastore, Martin, et al. (2007)	2p1x, 2eff
		CryoEM		To be published	8ivk
	Burkholderia cenocepacia	X-ray		To be published	4jpd
	Psychromonas ingrahamii	X-ray		Roman et al. (2013)	4hs5
		X-ray	Eu, Co	Noguera et al. (2015)	4ip1,4lk8
Yfh1	S. cereivisiae	NMR		He et al. (2004)	2ga5
		X-ray	Y73A mutant	Karlberg et al. (2006); Söderberg et al. (2011); Söderberg et al. (2013)	2fql, 3oeq, 3oer, 4ec2
Frataxin	Caenibacterium thermophilum	X-ray		Rasheed et al. (2019)	6fco
	D. melanogaster	X-ray		Rodrigues et al. (2023)	7n9i
	H. sapiens	X-ray		Dhe-Paganon et al. (2000); Tsai et al. (2011)	1ekg, 3s4m
		NMR		Musco et al. (2000)	1ly7
		X-ray	mutants	Bridwell-Rabb et al. (2011); Tsai et al. (2011)	3t3t, 3t3l, 3t3x, 3s5f, 3s4m



Figure 2. Ribbon representation of a representative selection of the available structures of frataxin orthologues from different species. Many more structures are available, especially for the human and yeast proteins, crystallized under different conditions and bound to various cations and/or in different molecular complexes but here we show only representative structures for each of the species. When present, the C-terminal extension is indicated in black. The comparison makes clear how this extension inserts between the two helices and protects the hydrophobic core. The absence of the extension leaves the core much more exposed and vulnerable so that the entropic motions induced by high temperature promptly unfold the protein. The corresponding PDB codes are (from left to right and from top to bottom): 1ew4, 4hs5, 4jpd, 2ga5, 6fco, 7n9i, and 1ekg.



**Figure 3.** Charge distribution and comparison of the available structures of Yfh1. (a) Electrostatic potential on the surface of Yfh1 (2ga5) shown in two different views rotated by 180° around the *y* axis. The structure on the left has the same orientation in Figure 1. (b) Left: NMR structure; Middle: representative structure of a mutant of Yfh1 designed to enhance the ability of the protein to aggregate and form big complexes; Right: an AlphaFold model.

patch on the surface of the main known frataxin partner, the desulfurase enzyme that is central in iron–sulphur cluster formation (Prischi et al., 2010). The interaction is mainly electrostatic and thus strict conservation of the residues involved is not required.

It should be noted that there are two structures for yeast Yfh1 in PDB: 2ga5 is an NMR structure that has some geometric distortions (Vilanova et al., 2014), and a series of crystallographic structures at about 3 Å resolution of a mutant of the conserved Tyr73 to alanine (Söderberg et al., 2011). This mutation enhances the tendency of the protein to form large aggregates in the presence of iron and affects the structure of the N-terminal helix that hosts Tyr73 shortening it by the first two helical turns (L70-E76) that are instead present in the NMR structure (Figure 3B). The last two C-terminal residues (S172, Q173) are also not detectable in the crystal structure. A model with a high degree of confidence obtained with the Alpha-Fold version 2.2 software superposes with the crystal structure with a 1.1 Å rmsd in the globular region (residues 75–172) and with the NMR structure with a 2.2 Å rmsd. This model is probably, for the time being, more representative of the structure of Yfh1 than either of the NMR and crystal structures.

# Comparison of the frataxin structures and their hightemperature stabilities

Studies exploring the factors influencing this interesting family of proteins started shortly after the first structural determinations (Dhe-Paganon et al., 2000; Musco et al., 2000). Adinolfi et al. (2004) carried out a comparative structural study of frataxin orthologs from three organisms of different evolutionary history: *Escherichia coli* (CyaY), *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Yfh1), and *Homo sapiens* (frataxin). The authors showed that the proteins have the same fold but also, when studied under the same conditions, remarkably different melting temperatures: the heat-induced melting temperatures at low salt of the yeast, bacterial, and human proteins go from 35, 55, and up to 65 °C respectively, Yfh1 is thus by far the least stable of these proteins and seemed to contain in

solution an appreciable amount of a disordered species in equilibrium with the folded species.

In trying to understand the reasons for such different stabilities, it was noticed that the melting points of the three model systems correlate with the length of the C-terminus. From the multiple alignment of the family, it is clear that the C-terminus of Yfh1 is shorter compared to all other orthologues (e.g., it is 3 residues shorter than the E. coli orthologue and 12 residues shorter than the human protein) (Adinolfi et al., 2004). It was thus hypothesised that the results could be explained by assuming that the hydrophobic core of Yfh1 is more easily accessible because the C-terminus that helps to protect the core is absent. To prove this hypothesis, it was shown that shortening the human protein by producing a truncated mutant caused a major destabilization which drastically reduced the Tm of the protein, whereas lengthening the yeast protein led to stabilization of about 10 °C in  $\Delta$ Tm (Adinolfi et al., 2004). These conclusions should not be understood as 'the length of the C-terminus of frataxins is the cause of their stability', since protein stability is the resultant of several different attractive and repulsive interactions. All it means is that the length of the frataxin C-terminus is a factor that strongly influences stability. We now have the structures and melting points of other frataxins from different organisms and the original hypothesis still roughly holds (Table 2).

#### The marginal stability of Yfh1 and cold denaturation

At first sight, it would be natural to think that it ought to be difficult to measure the full curve of stability of a marginally stable protein, but this is not true (Figure 4). A stable protein, typically with a free energy difference between unfolded and folded states around 10 kcal/mole (dashed curve), has a temperature of cold denaturation far below the freezing point of water and is therefore inaccessible, but if one lowers the maximum of the curve to about 1 kcal/mole (solid curve) the cold denaturation point becomes close to the freezing point of water. Accordingly, in 2007, it was serendipitously discovered that the cold denaturation midpoint of Yfh1 is not, as in many mesophilic proteins well below the freezing point of water and can instead be observed at temperatures close to but above 0 °C (Pastore, Martin, et al., 2007). It is thus possible to observe cold denaturation of Yfh1 precisely thanks to its marginal stability. This observation opened an entirely different new world.

Analysis of the thermal unfolding curves of Yfh1 recorded by far-UV circular dichroism indicated melting points for the heat and cold transitions around 35 and 5 °C respectively. Calculation of  $\Delta H$  at the high-temperature melting point gave a value of about 35 kcal/mol. Inserting this value in the Gibbs-Helmholtz equation gave an estimated  $\Delta Cp$  of 1.7 kcal (K mol)<sup>-1</sup> and a free energy of unfolding at 20 °C between 0.5 and 1 kcal/mole, depending on the exact solution conditions, suggesting that Yfh1 is only 70%–87% folded at 20 °C. The unfolding of Yfh1 is however highly cooperative as demonstrated in several papers (Adinolfi et al., 2004; Sanfelice et al., 2013, 2015) and fully reversible under all the unfolding conditions explored without noticeable aggregation.

It should be noticed though that, despite the low stability of Yfh1, we are not in the presence of a molten globule, which is a protein that adopts a secondary but not a tertiary structure (Ptitsyn, 1995). This could be clearly excluded from the NMR spectrum of

 Table 2. Comparison of the available heat melting temperatures of frataxins from different organisms

	- ·		- ()	
Protein	Organism	Buffer and salt	Tm (°C)	Ref
СуаҮ	E. coli	20 mM phosphate 7.0	54	Adinolfi et al. (2004)
		10 mM Hepes 7.4	51	Adinolfi et al. (2004)
	P. Ingrahamii	20 mM phosphate, 100 mM NaCl pH 6.0	55	Roman et al. (2013)
		20 mM phosphate, 100 mM NaCl pH 7.0	44	Roman et al. (2013)
		20 mM phosphate, 100 mM NaCl pH 7.0	33	Roman et al. (2013)
Yfh1	S. cerevisiae	20 mM phosphate 7.0	36	Adinolfi et al. (2004)
		10 mM Hepes 7.4	35	Adinolfi et al. (2004)
		10 mM Hepes pH 7.4	37	Sanfelice et al. (2013)
		10 mM Hepes pH 7.0	40	Correia et al. (2010)
		Hepes 10 mM, NaCl 150 mM pH 7.0	45	Adinolfi et al. (2004)
Frataxin	Caenibacterium thermophilum	10 mm Hepes, 150 mm KCl, pH 7.4	66	Rasheed et al. (2019)
	H. sapiens <sup>1</sup>	20 mM Hepes pH 8.0	54	Musco et al. (2000)
Frataxin (91–210)	H. sapiens	10 mM Hepes pH 7.0	58	Adinolfi et al. (2004)
		20 mM Hepes pH 8.0	62	Musco et al. (2000)
		20 mM phosphate 7.0	60	Adinolfi et al. (2004)

Note: The table is meant to give an indication of the variability of the stability among the different proteins but also of the sensitivity of each protein to the environmental conditions. When possible, we have tried to report similar conditions.

<sup>1</sup>This refers to the full-length mature human frataxin that is made of the conserved domain found in all frataxin and an unstructured N-terminal tail of 28 residues. As it can be appreciated by comparison of the stability of this protein with that of the isolated domain (Frataxin(91–210)), the unstructured tail slightly destabilizes the protein.

Yfh1: the <sup>15</sup>N 2D HSQC spectrum at room temperature is typical of a protein with a well-defined structure as can be appreciated by the exquisite spread of the resonances in both dimensions (Figure 5). Careful analysis and assignment of the spectrum showed however that we are in the presence of two completely distinct populations: one predominant at room temperature corresponding to the folded species, and a second one, less represented, corresponding to the unfolded species. They are in slow equilibrium so that, by increasing the temperature, the folded species weakens and eventually disappears while the unfolded species becomes predominant. We thus concluded that Yfh1 is a marginally stable protein, rather than an intrinsically disordered protein or a molten globule state (Pastore et al., 2019).



**Figure 4.** Accessibility of cold denaturation. The dashed curve, with a  $\Delta G_U^F$  of approximately 10 kcal/mole at maximum stability has a cold denaturation temperature close to 230 K. Translation to a  $\Delta G_U^F$  of approximately 1 kcal/mole (solid curve) raises the cold denaturation point very close to 273 K.

#### Searching for the causes of cold denaturation of Yfh1

The fascinating properties mentioned above prompted the search for factors that could explain this unusual behaviour. In 2010, Correia et al. reported the characterisation of eight Yfh1 variants affecting residues in the  $\alpha 1/\beta 1$  acidic ridge identified in Musco et al. (2000) and the conserved  $\beta$ -sheet surface (Correia et al., 2010). The authors demonstrated that these mutations did not affect the iron binding capacity but significantly decreased the stability in agreement with the hypothesis of direct competition between function and stability (Masino et al., 2011; Pastore & Temussi, 2012). Mutation of up to five negatively charged residues resulted in a thermal stabilization of ~24 °C. As a negative control, mutation of conserved residues on the  $\beta$ -sheet residues had only a modest impact on the protein stability. While these results were interesting in view of an intrinsic competition between physiological function and stability which was the focus of the work, surprisingly, the authors made no attempt to check whether their mutations had any influence on the cold denaturation transition: the measurements were all carried out at 50 mM salt concentrations and in the range 10 to 90 °C. Under these conditions, cold denaturation would not be detectable.

In 2013 and a more recent study (González-Lebrero et al., 2019; Roman et al., 2013), Santos and coworkers studied the frataxin ortholog from *Psychromonas ingrahamii*, a psychrophilic microorganism that proliferates at low temperatures (cold adaptation), where natural selection overcomes the problems of cold denaturation, slow protein folding dynamics, and reduced enzyme activities. The authors studied in detail the pH dependence of the heat denaturation of the protein and its behaviour under chemical denaturation, but, also in this case, all the studies were carried out in the presence of salt, and temperature scanning experiments never covered temperatures *below* 10 °C, preventing *a priori* the possibility of observing the region of the spectra most interesting for the detection of cold denaturation.

A different study was conducted soon after to check the effects of salt on cold denaturation (Sanfelice et al., 2013). It had in fact already been noticed that cold denaturation became undetectable if even small concentrations of monovalent salts were added. It was thus hypothesized that repulsion among spatially close negative charges on the protein surface could facilitate the access of water molecules into the hydrophobic core, according to Privalov's theories (Privalov, 1990). Yfh1, but not other orthologues, contains four negatively charged residues on the first and second strands of the sheet (Sanfelice et al., 2013) (Figure 6). It was argued that this quadrilateral of negative charges could cause significant electrostatic frustration which could lead to cold denaturation under conditions in which hydrophobic forces are weaker. To prove this hypothesis, the same authors introduced in a following study single, double, and triple mutations and observed that even mutation of only one of these residues to a neutral hydrophilic group leads to the shift of cold denaturation temperatures to below the water freezing point while not altering significantly the high-temperature melting point (Sanfelice et al., 2015). It is noteworthy that some of the mutated residues were the same as those mutated in Correia et al. (2010).

In support of this hypothesis, it was then reasoned that, if one could manage to induce detectable cold denaturation in an otherwise stable protein, this would prove conclusively that the rules that governed the cold denaturation of Yfh1 were understood. Indeed, it was possible to convert CyaY, a stable bacterial orthologue of Yfh1, to a marginally stable protein that undergoes detectable cold



Figure 5. HSQC spectrum of Yfh1 at 20 °C and room pressure recorded at 600 MHz. The protein is in 20 mM Hepes at pH 7.0. The weak peaks especially around 8.2 and 124 ppm but also distributed throughout the spectrum correspond to the unfolded form. As proven by Vilanova et al., 2014, they disappear upon the addition of 100 mM NaCl.



**Figure 6.** Comparison of the charge distributions among some members of the frataxin family showing the residues that induce electrostatic frustration in Yfh1. Light green: *E. coli* (1ew4); Pink: *P. Ingrahamii* (4hs5); Cyan: *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (2ga5); Bright green: *H. sapiens* (1ekg). The sidechains of glutamates and aspartates are shown in red, and those of lysines and arginines are in blue. The residues corresponding to the quadrilateral that destabilizes Yfh1 are shown with a thicker bond radius. Notice that the distribution of charges in *P. Ingrahamii* and *S. cerevisiae* is very similar. The only potentially stabilizing element is lysine 40. It can thus be predicted that, if properly destabilized C-terminally, the frataxin orthologue from *Psychromonas ingrahamii* is expected to give cold denaturation either as it is or by neutralizing lysine 40.

denaturation by inducing electrostatic frustration in the bacterial protein through a few mutations corresponding to those destabilizing Yfh1 (Bitonti et al., 2022). It is, however, important to stress that, to observe cold denaturation, it was first necessary to C-terminally truncate the protein to reduce its high-temperature melting point from 50 to 35 °C, which is close to what is observed for Yfh1. Care was also taken to mutate nearby positive charges that could compensate for the negatively charged repulsion. *A posteriori*, given the evidence collected, it is easy to predict that, if properly destabilised C-terminally, the protein from *P. ingrahamii* has almost all the requisites necessary to give detectable cold denaturation and would then be possibly only one single mutation away from cold denaturation (Figure 6). Hopefully, this prediction will soon be tested because it could suggest some interesting hypotheses on evolutionary strategies for cold resistance.

# Cold denaturation: environment or molecularity?

These results are interesting in view of understanding the causes of the cold denaturation phenomenon. Its occurrence was explained on the basis of thermodynamic considerations by Privalov (1990), who proposed that low temperature favours the preferential solvation of nonpolar side chains, a phenomenon that does not occur at high temperatures. He argued that the free energy of hydration is negative with an absolute value that increases when the temperature goes down. Thus, at a sufficiently low temperature, the non-polar groups of the hydrophobic core are forced to be exposed to water causing the unfolding of an otherwise compact protein (Privalov, 1990).

The mechanism postulated by Privalov (1990), although entirely convincing on its thermodynamic basis, has often been the object of heated controversy by researchers attributing cold denaturation to a series of physical causes, which were mainly linked to properties of water (see for instance Kauzmann, 1959; Graziano et al., 1997). After the discovery of the behaviour of Yfh1, there was a substantial increase in papers dealing with the origin of cold denaturation. Graziano (2010, 2014) reasoned that the water-accessible surface area (WASA) has a great influence on the very different conformations that a polypeptide chain can adopt. According to this author, there would be a temperature where the destabilizing contribution of the polypeptide chain conformational entropy matches exactly the stabilizing contribution of the water configurational/translational entropy, leading to cold denaturation. Yoshidome and Kinoshita (2012) attributed cold denaturation to the weakening of hydrophobicity at low temperatures, according to several experimental studies. Gulevsky and Relina (2013), by reviewing many cases of cold denaturation, concluded that the disorganisation of supramolecular assemblies under the influence of low temperature is one of the key factors contributing to cell cold-induced injuries. Bianco and Franzese (2015) showed, using Monte Carlo simulations, that it is sufficient to take into account how water at the protein interface changes its hydrogen bond properties and its density fluctuations for predicting protein stability regions with elliptic shapes in the temperaturepressure plane, consistent with previous theories. Recently, Seelig and Seelig (2023) gave an original interpretation of thermal protein unfolding, including cold denaturation. They demonstrated that the temperature profiles of enthalpy  $\Delta H(T)$ , entropy  $\Delta S(T)$ , and free energy  $\Delta G(T)$  can be obtained directly by a numerical integration of the heat capacity profile Cp(T) that can be obtained by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), a technique that offers the unique possibility to assess these parameters without resorting to a model. They introduced three new models, an empirical two-state model, a statistical-mechanical two-state model, and a cooperative statisticalmechanical multistate model. The two-state models yielded good fits for the enthalpy, entropy, and free energy of the unfolding of small proteins. The cooperative statistical-mechanical multistate model yielded an even better fit, even for the unfolding of larger proteins such as antibodies.

However, in our opinion, in most studies on cold denaturation, too little attention has been paid to molecular aspects concerning the specific nature of the protein under study, focusing almost exclusively on the bulk properties of the medium. The experimental data reported by Sanfelice et al. (2015) and the identification of specific destabilizing effects emphasized instead the importance of molecular mechanisms and the specific contribution of each protein in cold denaturation studies, entirely shifting the paradigm from 'solvent-properties-only' to 'proteinproperties'.

#### Yfh1 as a unique tool in protein studies: the effect of alcohols

A consequence of the unusual possibility to measure the stability curve of a protein yields a measure of protein stability more informative than many other parameters, allowing the investigation of the influence of many different perturbing agents. A class of substances commonly used to access cold denaturation are, in addition to chaotropic agents, alcohols, which are known to destabilize proteins and thus increase the temperature of the cold denaturation transition when added to buffer solutions at fairly high concentrations. The general belief is/was that the observation of cold denaturation above zero centigrade in alcohols is possible because hydroalcoholic solutions have freezing temperatures lower than zero degrees. However, it was completely ignored that the very presence of alcohol might change protein stability because the chemical would inevitably alter the composition of the aqueous solution. Martin et al. (2008) studied the stability of Yfh1 in hydroalcoholic solutions in the presence of three alcohols, that is, methanol, ethanol, and trifluoroethanol. These alcohols were used at concentrations in the range of 0 to 15%, The authors discovered that at these low concentrations, alcohols extend the temperature range in which proteins are stable rather than having a destabilizing effect. The authors determined that the extended temperature range stems from a modest increase in the high temperature of unfolding accompanied by a marked decrease in the cold denaturation transition, thus demonstrating that the effects on the two transitions may be asymmetric. These experimental findings were interpreted on the basis of a direct interaction of the folded conformation with alcohols and of an indirect interference of alcohols with the hydration of the unfolded conformation at low temperatures, completely changing our perception of the effect of alcohols effects on proteins.

#### Cold denaturation as a way to explore molecular crowding

The 'tool Yfh1' was also deemed to be ideal for studies of the influence of crowding on protein stability and in particular, it offered a chance for a comparison of the effects of crowding and confinement on the same protein. The cell interior is often described as being both crowded and confining (Alfano et al., 2024). However, the two terms indicate two distinct conditions. Crowding describes a dynamic situation in which available volume is excluded whereas confinement refers to a static condition, characterized by both shape and volume restrictions (Ellis, 2001; Zhou, 2004; Zhou et al., 2008). Based on entropic considerations, it is generally believed that crowding and confinement increase the stability of proteins because the more compact conformations of the folded native states are favoured with respect to the bulkier and more disordered unfolded states. Sanfelice et al. (2013) attempted a comparison of the effects of crowding and confinement in a rigorous way by studying them using Yfh1. The authors used CD spectroscopy for the comparison between stability in a buffer and a crowded environment, and NMR spectroscopy for the comparison between stability in a buffer and a confining environment. The thermodynamic parameters found by Sanfelice et al. (2013) showed that crowding has a strong influence on stability: in crowded conditions, there is indeed an increase of the heat unfolding temperature  $(T_m)$  but also an increase in enthalpy and a decrease in heat capacity. Furthermore, their results showed that the effects of crowding can be nonlinear in the crowding agent concentration. The authors concluded that, under the conditions of their study, both crowding and confinement influenced the stability of Yfh1. A more quantitative study on the effects of crowding was performed on Yfh1 by Alfano et al. (2017). At the time this article was published, there were several debates concerning the importance of crowding, both in vitro and in vivo. A survey of the literature

suggested that the effects of excluded volume on protein stability are modest. Most of all, according to some authors the predominant influence of crowders is the enthalpic effect of weak interactions rather than entropic effects (Smith et al., 2015). Miklos et al. (2011), for instance, found that protein crowders can be mildly destabilizing. The competition between entropic and enthalpic effects yields tuneable stability, a situation that is crucial for understanding the role of proteins in living systems. Other authors hypothesized that the volume variations associated with the transition from folded to unfolded species were overestimated (Politou & Temussi, 2015).

There were, however, various difficulties in discriminating between these possibilities on the effect of crowding on protein stability, mainly because of the uncertainty over the choice of the protein and of the most suitable crowder and its concentration.

The answer to the choice of protein was obvious considering the properties of Yfh1. This protein provided a perfect tool for two reasons: it is marginally stable and thus even small effects on its stability can be easily detected but, even more importantly, it allows the easy determination of the full stability curve. Alfano et al. (2017) studied the influence, on the stability of Yfh1, of different macromolecular synthetic crowders at concentrations ranging between 5% and 20% w/v taking extra care to ascertain that they did not interact with Yfh1 before assessing their role as crowders. This comparison highlighted the importance of the relative dimensions of the protein under study and of the crowders. Crowders whose molecular weight was closer to that of the protein under study appeared to be more effective than larger crowders in stabilizing the protein. Altogether, these authors demonstrated that there is a clear entropic effect of crowders on protein stability.

#### NMR studies of protein unfolding

The use of Yfh1 was also helpful in clarifying the use of NMR in studies of unfolding.

NMR has a unique advantage, compared to many other biophysical techniques, in providing residue-specific information on the behaviour of selected residues. However, one might wonder whether all residues are equally suited for the purpose. Protein unfolding can, for instance, be monitored by one-dimensional (1D) NMR by following at different temperatures the resonances of residues spatially close to aromatic rings (ring-current shifted resonances) (Pastore, Martin, et al., 2007; Szyperski et al., 2006). These residues are, by definition, excellent reporters since they are buried in the hydrophobic core. More difficult is the application of multi-dimensional NMR that provides information on all residues (provided that they are not overlapping). Puglisi et al. (2020) analysed this problem and realized that, when looking at individual residues, the position of the reporter group in the protein structure may reflect cooperative unfolding only if the atom is well inside the hydrophobic core. Otherwise, if the chemical group is positioned on external structural elements, volume changes reflect peripheral motions.

To circumvent the problem, the authors first selected the NH resonances of an HSQC from residues as close as possible to the hydrophobic core on the basis of the solvent-accessible surface area (SASA) (Puglisi et al., 2020). However, they realised that the approach could be misleading because these quantities are calculated for the whole residue rather than for the specific indole group. As an alternative, the authors defined a quantity RAD = ( $D \times RA \times 100$ ), where D is the depth of a group from the protein surface, and RA is the relative accessibility (RA) at the atomic level. RAD defines the

composite information that combines the depth and exposure of a chemical group and can be calculated by using, for instance, the programs SADIC and POPS (Puglisi et al., 2020). The SADIC algorithm calculates the intersection between the molecular volume and spheres centred on the atoms whose depth is quantified. This parameter yields how deeply the chemical group lies within the protein and measures its distance from the protein surface. The lower the value of the Depth parameter (D), the more buried the residue: residues with a D-value lower than 0.50 are considered to be buried. The program PopS yields instead relative accessibility (RA) at the atomic level: Q(SASA) is the ratio between the exposed surface of a nitrogen atom with respect to the SASA of the entire residue. The authors found that, by averaging only the residues with RAD <0.1, they could find a much better agreement with the far-UV CD data, a technique that provides only bulk information. In this way, Puglisi et al. (2020) demonstrated that the choice of the reporter is crucial for the reliable measurement of protein stability and also that proper signal averaging is essential. This study opened new directions to explore protein stability at the residue level.

#### **Comparing unfolded states**

The possibility of studying unfolding caused by different agents on the same protein called for a characterization of the cold and heat unfolded states. Adrover et al. (2010, 2012) achieved virtually full assignment of Yfh1 at both -1 and 50 °C, showing that at these temperatures, below the cold and above the heat denaturation transitions, the protein has all the features of an unfolded protein. The authors found that cold unfolded Yfh1 retains some local, residual secondary structure but this does not reflect the secondary structural features of the folded species. The same laboratory (Adrover et al., 2012) deepened the comparison of the unfolded states at high and low temperatures by integrating small-angle X-ray Scattering (SAXS), NMR, and molecular dynamics data. SAXS measurements indicated that, despite the apparent local structural similarity observed by NMR, the two cold and heat equilibrium states of Yfh1 have a subtle but clear difference in size and compactness distribution. A detailed comparison of the chemical shifts and temperature coefficients revealed that the amide protons experience a different degree of solvation at high and low temperatures which indicated a higher degree of hydration at low temperatures (Adrover et al., 2012). This is in agreement with the model of cold denaturation formulated by Privalov (1990).

Aznauryan et al. (2013) also used Yfh1 to compare low- and high-temperature unfolded states directly on the same protein. Using single-molecule Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) experiments, they found continuous compaction of the unfolded protein from 1 to 47 °C, with a minor re-expansion at higher temperatures. Possible discrepancies between FRET and SAXS data would be only apparent, and mainly based on the wrong idea that it is possible to correlate directly the quantities R<sub>e</sub> (the distance between donor and acceptor) and Rg (the gyration radius) obtained from FRET and SAXS respectively (Riback et al., 2017). As illustrated by Fuertes et al. (2018): 'FRET data cannot be used to extract R<sub>g</sub> without making a series of simplifying assumptions about the connections between Rg and Re and the converse is true of SAXS data. Indeed, much of the conflict in inferences drawn from SAXS versus FRET originates from the fact that the two methods provide access to different quantities'. To describe the unfolded states at low and high temperatures in a simplistic way, we might say that the cold unfolded state is characterized by a large Re corresponding to a

minimum possible volume. As the temperature is increased,  $R_e$  becomes smaller but the corresponding volume increases as a consequence of progressive (disordered) folding.

Taken together, these results provided for the first time a detailed characterization and comparison of the heat and cold denaturation states highlighting their differences.

# Yet another unfolded state: pressure unfolding

More recently, Yfh1 has been used to study the effects of pressure (Pastore and Temussi, 2023; Roche et al., 2017). This denaturing agent is interesting for at least three independent but related reasons: (i) pressure variations allow the exploration of the whole phase diagram of protein unfolding; (ii) under high pressure, stable proteins unfold without the need for chaotropic agents (e.g. urea or guanidinium) which may act as co-solvents and perturb the chemical environment and the solvation state of the protein (Pastore and Temussi, 2023); (iii) high-pressure increases the temperature of cold denaturation and at the same time reduces the freezing point of water (Smeller, 2002), thus making cold denaturation studies more approachable even for very stable proteins.

High-pressure studies of Yfh1 were carried out both by fluorescence and NMR measurements, which provided complementary information (Puglisi et al., 2022). Fluorescence spectroscopy using the intrinsic fluorescence of the two tryptophan residues of Yfh1 allowed the determination of the phase diagram of unfolding as a function of pressure (1-5000 bar) and temperature 278-313 K (5-40 °C), both in the absence and in the presence of fold stabilizers (Puglisi et al., 2022). As expected, Yfh1 showed a remarkable sensitivity to pressure with a midpoint of unfolding already occurring at pressures around 100 bar at room temperature. These pressures should be compared with the midpoint pressure for other model globular proteins, such as the immunoglobulin-like module of titin I27 or a hyperstable variant of Staphylococcus nuclease, which require pressures as high as 2-3 kbar to unfold and the presence of small concentrations of guanidinium chloride (Herrada et al. 2018; Roche et al., 2012).

More recently, NMR measurements were used to get residuespecific information on the unfolding events (Roumestand et al., submitted). On the basis of the average chemical shifts of the resonances in the HSQC spectra of the three unfolded states, it was demonstrated that the Yfh1 pressure unfolded state shares features closer to those of the low than of the high temperatureunfolded state, suggesting a somewhat similar mechanism. Both the spectra of the pressure and cold-denatured species have in fact an overall low-field chemical shift as compared to the hightemperature unfolded spectrum, indicating de-shielding of the amide protons. A similar effect of pressure on the chemical shifts and a closer similarity between cold and pressure denaturation has also been reported for the cold shock protein B from Bacillus subtilis (BsCspB) (Berner and Kovermann, 2024) and ubiquitin (Vajpai et al., 2013). This conclusion agrees with Privalov's theory (1979, 1982, 1990) according to which cold denaturation would depend on a higher affinity of water for apolar groups and on hydrogen bonding with the solvent, while heat denaturation would result from increasing molecular motions.

Analysis of the pressure-induced unfolding at different temperatures also allowed the determination of the hierarchical mechanism of Yfh1 unfolding using an approach introduced by C. Royer and cow (Roche et al., 2012). In this method, the probability of observing contacts between residues in the folded



**Figure 7.** Summary of the results obtained by recording thermal unfolding by NMR at progressively increasing pressures. At each data point, the probabilities of contacts calculated as a function of the peak intensities are calculated and compared to the contact map from the folded structure. Loss of all contacts is highly cooperative at high pressure. At low pressures (50–150 bar), the process is less cooperative, especially at low temperatures. It is clear that loss of contacts involves first the residues in the N-terminal helix and the beginning of the sheet at low temperature, whereas the first contacts that disappear at high temperature are those around the C-terminus. This behaviour is symbolised in the figure by a door sandwiched by the structures of Yfh1 in two orthogonal views to show the regions involved.

state is roughly given by the geometric mean of the fractional probabilities of the two residues at a given condition (Fossat et al., 2016). The contacts above a certain threshold are compared with the contact map calculated from the coordinates of the folded protein. This is a rough but cunning way to get a qualitative idea of the regions of a protein that unfold first and if the process is cooperative. The authors observed that, near the temperature of maximal stability, pressure unfolding is highly cooperative, close to a global two-state equilibrium between the folded and unfolded populations of the protein (Figure 7). At temperatures above and below the temperature of maximal stability, unfolding becomes less cooperative at low pressures, whereas, at higher pressures, it is again highly cooperative at all temperatures. At moderate pressures and low temperatures, partial unfolding concerns primarily the N-terminal helix and the first strands of the ß-sheet, where the negatively charged cluster is (Bitonti et al., 2022; Sanfelice et al., 2015). At high temperatures, unfolding starts at the C-terminal helix. This behaviour suggested a synergic mechanism between pressure- and temperature-induced denaturation in which pressure destabilization helps to unveil the hierarchical events of coldand heat-induced unfolding. We could say that, metaphorically speaking, it is as if there were two 'doors' on the structure of the protein that promotes unfolding, one for the cold temperature, the other for the hot one. This is in perfect agreement with our previous studies that had shown that unfolding at low temperatures is mediated by the negatively charged frustration caused by residues in the N-terminus of the protein, whereas heat temperature unfolding is strongly dependent on the C-terminal mediated opening of the hydrophobic core.

Overall, these studies at high pressure provided new and important information on the mechanisms of pressure unfolding of proteins and the relation between cold denaturation and other types of unfolding.

#### The kinetics of folding of Yfh1

Bonetti et al. (2014) used Yfh1 to consider a different aspect linked to protein folding and extensively characterized the temperature and urea dependence of the kinetics of folding of yeast frataxin both in the absence and in the presence of stabilizing salts. Their temperature-jump experiments between 288 and 333 K supported a simple two-state process involving a single energy barrier. In the presence of urea as a chaotropic denaturant in the pH range 4–9, the authors observed instead that the main rate-limiting step conformed to a smooth broad-free energy barrier. This meant that, while the data recorded in the absence of denaturant could be approximated by a simple two-state model for the temperature dependence of the folding and unfolding rate constants, the data in urea are less cooperative.

The observation of a smooth broad free energy barrier is interesting because it provided valuable information about the transition state: it indicated that Yfh1 belongs to a subset of globular proteins, which includes U1A and azurin, that have a broad energetic barrier to folding, implying a malleable structure. This is at variance with many globular proteins that appear to fold via a robust transition state, whose structure is not affected by changes in experimental conditions or denaturant concentration. This behaviour has been ascribed by Wolynes and co-workers to the presence of energetic frustration in the native state ensemble in agreement with the results by Sanfelice et al., 2015. Bonetti et al. also suggested that the possibility of studying the residual secondary structure of the cold- and heat-denatured states (Adrover et al., 2010, 2012) provides a unique tool to study Ptitsyn's theory in which an overall three-dimensional collapse precedes the tight packing of the side chains implying the existence of intermediates with residual secondary structures (Ptitsyn, 1995).

Further analysis of the transition-state structure revealed that the regions involved in the folding process are highly aggregationprone, while functionally important regions are partially misfolded in the transition state but highly resistant to aggregation (Gianni et al., 2014). These results indicated that the competition between folding and function is at the very basis of the marginal stability of this protein and provided the grounds for a more recent study in which the folding of Yfh1 was compared to that of the human orthologue (Pietrangeli et al., 2024). The comparison suggested a weak native bias at the early stages of folding, with observed pathways converging only when the native state is approached. The authors concluded that consolidation of the folding nucleus of this protein is slightly decoupled from a general collapse of the polypeptide chain, which appears to precede nucleation according to Ptitsyn's theory (1995).

## Stability or resilience? chance or necessity?

Yfh1 is a protein with very unique properties as it can denature under several different conditions without ever degrading into an irreversible aggregate state, provided suitable amounts of reducing agents are present. In the original article discussing the properties of this protein, Pastore, Martin, et al. (2007) went above the temperature of heat unfolding and below that of cold denaturation several times using the same protein sample but, after these operations, the NMR spectrum at room temperature remained indistinguishable from the original spectrum. Again, Martin et al. (2008) went several times across both unfolding temperatures in solutions containing methanol, ethanol, and trifluoroethanol at concentrations comprised between 0 and 15%. Also in these cases, going back to room temperature yielded the same NMR spectrum. The unfolding transitions of Yfh1 were also mostly reversible at high pressure: after recording spectra at different temperatures, the spectrum collected after returning to room temperature and pressure lost only a minor fraction of its intensity (Puglisi et al., 2020; Roumestand et al., submitted). Also interesting is that, at pH values around neutrality, Yfh1 can be concentrated at least to the low millimolar range without aggregation. We can thus conclude that Yfh1, although only a marginally stable protein, is also characterized by a high resilience, meaning with this term the process of adapting well to significant sources of stress. From this point of view, resilience might be considered as a specific aspect of stability. For a protein in vivo, it is probably more important to have a high resilience than a large (static) stability, which by itself might prevent resilience.

Indeed, Yfh1 is the first natural protein found to show cold denaturation above the freezing point of water under quasiphysiological conditions, where 'quasi' refers to the fact that cold denaturation is observed only at low ionic strength. It is worth wondering at this point how such a marginally unstable protein can survive in nature and whether these properties are needed for its physiological functions. Low-salt conditions might be difficult to find in a natural environment, especially for intracellular proteins mainly localized in the mitochondrion. We could thus easily argue that Yfh1 will never experience in nature the conditions we have in the test tube. However, two aspects need to be considered: first, all the conditions chosen for in vitro unfolding studies are rather unrealistic. Hen egg-white lysozyme or human ubiquitin will for instance never experience 1000 bar pressures. Yet, extreme conditions help us to observe processes usually less evident. Second, the observation of what happens to Yfh1 at low salt levels immediately suggests that, unless intrinsically disordered which is what the protein is not, there must be factors that stabilise the protein in nature. We now know that the protein binds to iron and this is a factor of strong stabilization. It also binds to other protein partners.

#### **Conclusions: Yfh1 and beyond**

In conclusion, in the previous paragraphs, we have discussed several examples in which Yfh1 has been used as a 'tool' to study the influence of several environmental conditions on protein stability. Yfh1 has proven to be a ductile and versatile system that can assist in reconsidering standing unanswered questions with a new fresh perspective. From this model system, we have learned important lessons, some of which have broken established paradigms, on the very nature of protein stability and the factors influencing it. As a result, it would be fair to conclude that stability is not just a number, but rather an ensemble of conditions characterizing a protein. Likewise, the protein unfolding state is far from being unique and has instead specific features characteristic of the environmental conditions. Future questions that Yfh1 can still help us to address include understanding the kinetics of protein unfolding under different conditions and rules that determine protein aggregation rather than unfolding. We expect that Yfh1 can provide 'the' perfect system for the study of protein unfolding which should become more generally exploited. Another urgent open question is also to demonstrate how

much of what we have learned from Yfh1 is exportable to other proteins. While some progress along these lines has already been made by transforming the stable bacterial frataxin into a cold denaturing protein (Bitonti et al., 2022), we now need to validate our working hypotheses using completely unrelated proteins with different folds. It will also be important to compare the lessons learned on Yfh1 on the other few systems, most of which are not natural proteins, that are known to give a detectable cold denaturation. We believe that the knowledge gained will ultimately allow us to better understand the physical forces holding together proteins and the rules that prevent their unfolding and/or misfolding.

**Acknowledgements.** We would like to thank all the people in our group and the collaborators who have contributed to the study of Yfh1 through the years.

**Financial support.** The authors declare that no funds, grants, or other support were received during the preparation of this manuscript.

Competing interest. The authors declare to have none.

#### References

- Adinolfi S, Nair M, Politou A, Bayer E, Martin S, Temussi P, Pastore A (2004) The factors governing the thermal stability of frataxin orthologues: how to increase a protein's stability. *Biochemistry* 43:6511–6518. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/bi036049+.
- Adrover M, Esposito V, Martorell G, Pastore A, Temussi PA (2010) Understanding cold denaturation: the case study of Yfh1. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 132:16240–16246. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja1070174.
- Adrover M, Martorell G, Martin SR, Urosev D, Konarev PV, Svergun DI, Daura X, Temussi P, Pastore A (2012) The role of hydration in protein stability: comparison of the cold and heat unfolded states of Yfh1. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 417:413–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2012.02.002.
- Agashe VR, Udgaonkar JB (1995) Thermodynamics of denaturation of barstar: evidence for cold denaturation and evaluation of the interaction with guanidine hydrochloride. *Biochemistry* **34**:3286–3299. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bi00010a019.
- Alfano C, Fichou Y, Huber K, Weiss M, Spruijt E, Ebbinghaus S, De Luca G, Morando MA, Vetri V, Temussi PA, Pastore A (2024) Molecular crowding: the history and development of a scientific paradigm. *Chemical Reviews* 124: 3186–3219. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.3c00615.
- Alfano C, Sanfelice D, Martin SR, Pastore A, Temussi PA (2017) An optimized strategy to measure protein stability highlights differences between cold and hot unfolded states. *Nature Communications* 8:15428. https://doi.org/10.10 38/ncomms15428.
- Antonino LC, Kautz RA, Nakano T, Fox RO, Fink AL (1991) Cold denaturation and 2H2O stabilization of a staphylococcal nuclease mutant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U. S. A.* 88:7715–7718. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.88.17.7715.
- Aznauryan M, Nettels D, Holla A, Hofmann H, Schuler B (2013) Singlemolecule spectroscopy of cold denaturation and the temperature-induced collapse of unfolded proteins. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 135: 14040–14043. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja407009w.
- Azuaga AI, Galisteo ML, Mayorga OL, Cortijo M, Mateo PL (1992) Heat and cold denaturation of beta-lactoglobulin B. FEBS Letters 309:258–260. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(92)80784-e.
- Becktel WJ, Schellman JA (1987) Protein stability curves. Biopolymers 26: 1859–1877. https://doi.org/10.1002/bip.360261104.
- Berner F, Kovermann M (2024) Including the ensemble of unstructured conformations in the analysis of protein's native state by high-pressure NMR spectroscopy. Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English 63:e202401343. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202401343.
- Bianco V, Franzese G (2015) Contribution of water to pressure and cold denaturation of proteins. *Physical Review Letters* 115:108101. https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.108101.
- Bitonti A, Puglisi R, Meli M, Martin SR, Colombo G, Temussi PA, Pastore A (2022) Recipes for inducing cold denaturation in an otherwise stable protein.

Journal of the American Chemical Society 144:7198–7207. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/jacs.1c13355.

- Bonetti D, Toto A, Giri R, Morrone A, Sanfelice D, Pastore A, Temussi P, Gianni S, Brunori M (2014) The kinetics of folding of frataxin. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 16:6391–6397. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cp54055c.
- Bridwell-Rabb J, Winn AM, Barondeau DP (2011) Structure-function analysis of Friedreich's ataxia mutants reveals determinants of frataxin binding and activation of the Fe-S assembly complex. *Biochemistry* 50:7265–7274. https:// doi.org/10.1021/bi200895k.
- Cho SJ, Lee MG, Yang JK, Lee JY, Song HK, Suh SW (2000) Crystal structure of Escherichia coli CyaY protein reveals a previously unidentified fold for the evolutionarily conserved frataxin family. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U. S. A. 97:8932–8937. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.160270897.
- Christensen LK (1952) Denaturation and enzymatic hydrolysis of lactoglobulin; with some observations on the hydrolysis of egg albumin. *Comptes Rendus Des Travaux Du Laboratoire Carlsberg: Série Chimique* 28:37–69.
- Correia AR, Wang T, Craig EA, Gomes CM (2010) Iron-binding activity in yeast frataxin entails a trade off with stability in the alpha1/beta1 acidic ridge region. *Biochemical Journal* **426**:197–203. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20091612.
- Dhe-Paganon S, Shigeta R, Chi YI, Ristow M, Shoelson SE (2000) Crystal structure of human frataxin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275:30753–30756. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C000407200.
- Ellis RJ (2001) Macromolecular crowding: obvious but underappreciated. Trends in Biochemical Science 26:597–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0968-0004(01)01938-7.
- Finkelstein AV, Bogatyreva NS, Ivankov DN, Garbuzynskiy SO (2022) Protein folding problem: enigma, paradox, solution. *Biophysical Reviews* 14: 1255–1272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12551-022-01000-1.
- Fossat MJ, Dao TP, Jenkins K, Dellarole M, Yang Y, McCallum SA, Garcia AE, Barrick D, Roumestand C, Royer CA (2016) High-resolution mapping of a repeat protein folding free energy landscape. *Biophysical Journal* 111: 2368–2376.
- Fuertes G, Banterle N, Ruff KM, Chowdhury A, Pappu RV, Svergun DI, Lemke EA (2018) Comment on "Innovative scattering analysis shows that hydrophobic disordered proteins are expanded in water". Science 361: eaau8230. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau8230.
- Gianni S, Camilloni C, Giri R, Toto A, Bonetti D, Morrone A, Sormanni P, Brunori M, Vendruscolo M (2014) Understanding the frustration arising from the competition between function, misfolding, and aggregation in a globular protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111:14141–14146. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1405233111.
- González-Lebrero RM, Defelipe L, Modenutti C, Roitberg AE, Batastini NA, Noguera ME, Santos J, Roman EA (2019) Folding and dynamics are strongly pH-dependent in a psychrophile frataxin. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 123:7676–7686. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.9b05960.
- Graziano G (2010) On the molecular origin of cold denaturation of globular proteins. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 12:14245–14252. https://doi. org/10.1039/c0cp00945h.
- Graziano G (2014) On the mechanism of cold denaturation. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 16:21755–21767. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4cp0 2729a.
- Graziano G, Catanzano F, Riccio A, Barone G (1997) A reassessment of the molecular origin of cold denaturation. *Journal of Biochemistry* 122:395–401. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021766.
- Gulevsky AK, Relina LI (2013) Molecular and genetic aspects of protein cold denaturation. Cryo Letters 34:62–82.
- Hatley RH, Franks F (1989) The effect of aqueous methanol cryosolvents on the heat- and cold-induced denaturation of lactate dehydrogenase. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **184**:237–240. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1432-1033.1989.tb15012.x.
- He Y, Alam SL, Proteasa SV, Zhang Y, Lesuisse E, Dancis A, Stemmler TL. Yeast frataxin solution structure, iron binding, and ferrochelatase interaction. *Biochemistry*. 2004 **43**(51):16254–16262. doi: 10.1021/bi0488193.
- Herrada I, Barthe P, Vanheusden M, DeGuillen K, Mammri L, Delbecq S, Rico F and Roumestand C (2018) Monitoring unfolding of Titin I27 single and bi domain with high- pressure NMR spectroscopy. *Biophysical Journal* 115:341–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2018.06.010.

- Hopkins FG (1930) Denaturation of proteins by urea and related substances, Nature 126, 328–330. https://doi.org/10.1038/126328a0
- Jacobsen CF, Christensen LK (1948) Influence of temperature on the urea denaturation of beta-lactoglobulin. *Nature* 161:30. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 161030a0.
- Karlberg T, Schagerlöf U, Gakh O, Park S, Ryde U, Lindahl M, Leath K, Garman E, Isaya G, Al-Karadaghi S (2006) The structures of frataxin oligomers reveal the mechanism for the delivery and detoxification of iron. *Structure* 14:1535–1546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2006.08.010.
- Kauzmann W (1959) Some factors in the interpretation of protein denaturation. Advances in Protein Chemistry 14:1–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-3233(08)60608-7.
- Martin SR, Esposito V, De Los Rios P, Pastore A, Temussi PA (2008) Cold denaturation of yeast frataxin offers the clue to understand the effect of alcohols on protein stability. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 130: 9963–9970. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja803280e.
- Masino L, Nicastro G, Calder L, Vendruscolo M, Pastore A (2011) Functional interactions as a survival strategy against abnormal aggregation. FASEB Journal 25:45–54. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.10-161208.
- Miklos AC, Sarkar M, Wang Y, Pielak GJ (2011) Protein crowding tunes protein stability. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 133:7116–7120. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja200067p.
- Musco G, Stier G, Kolmerer B, Adinolfi S, Martin S, Frenkiel T, Gibson T, Pastore A (2000) Towards a structural understanding of Friedreich's ataxia: the solution structure of frataxin. *Structure*. 8:695–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0969-2126(00)00158-1.
- Noguera ME, Roman EA, Rigal JB, Cousido-Siah A, Mitschler A, Podjarny A, Santos J (2015) Structural characterization of metal binding to a coldadapted frataxin. Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry 20:653–664. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00775-015-1251-9.
- Nojima H, Ikai A, Oshima T, Noda H (1977) Reversible thermal unfolding of thermostable phosphoglycerate kinase. Thermostability associated with mean zero enthalpy change. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 116:429–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(77)90078-x.
- Pace CN (1986) Determination and analysis of urea and guanidine hydrochloride denaturation curves. *Methods Enzymology* 131:266–280. https://doi. org/10.1016/0076-6879(86)31045-0.
- Pastore A, Martin SR, Politou A, Kondapalli KC, Stemmler T, Temussi PA (2007) Unbiased cold denaturation: low- and high-temperature unfolding of yeast frataxin under physiological conditions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 129(17):5374–5375. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0714538.
- Pastore A, Martin SR, Temussi PA (2019) Generalized view of protein folding: In medio stat virtus. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 141: 2194–2200. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b10779.
- Pastore A, Puccio H (2013) Frataxin: a protein in search for a function. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 126:43–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12220.
- Pastore A, Temussi PA (2012) The two faces of Janus: functional interactions and protein aggregation. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 22:30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2011.11.007.
- Pastore A, Temussi PA (2022) The protein unfolded state: one, no one and one hundred thousand. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 144: 22352–22357. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.2c07696.f
- Pastore A, Temussi PA (2023) Unfolding under pressure: An NMR perspective. Chembiochem 24:e202300164. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.20230 0164.
- Pietrangeli P, Marcocci L, Pennacchietti V, Diop A, Di Felice M, Pagano L, Malagrinò F, Toto A, Brunori M, Gianni S (2024) The mechanism of folding of human frataxin in comparison to the yeast homologue - Broad energy barriers and the general properties of the transition state. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 436:168555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2024.168555.
- Politou A, Temussi PA (2015) Revisiting a dogma: the effect of volume exclusion in molecular crowding. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 30: 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2014.10.005.
- Popovic M, Sanfelice D, Pastore C, Prischi F, Temussi PA, Pastore A (2015) Selective observation of the disordered import signal of a globular protein by in-cell NMR: the example of frataxins. *Protein Science* 24:996–1003. https:// doi.org/10.1002/pro.2679.

- Prischi F, Konarev PV, Iannuzzi C, Pastore C, Adinolfi S, Martin SR, Svergun DI, Pastore A (2010) Structural bases for the interaction of frataxin with the central components of iron-sulphur cluster assembly. *Nature Communications* 1:95. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1097.
- Privalov PL (1990) Cold denaturation of proteins. Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 25:281–305. https://doi.org/10.3109/1040 9239009090612.
- Ptitsyn OB (1995) Molten globule and protein folding. Advances in Protein Chemistry 47:83–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-3233(08)60546-x.
- Puglisi R, Brylski O, Alfano C, Martin SR, Pastore A, Temussi PA (2020) Quantifying the thermodynamics of protein unfolding using 2D NMR spectroscopy. *Communications Chemistry* 3:100. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42004-020-00358-1.
- Puglisi R, Cioni P, Gabellieri E, Presciuttini G, Pastore A, Temussi PA (2022) Heat and cold denaturation of yeast frataxin: The effect of pressure. *Biophysical Journal* 121:1502–1511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2022.03.010.
- Rasheed M, Jamshidiha M, Puglisi R, Yan R, Cota E, Pastore A (2019) Structural and functional characterization of a frataxin from a thermophilic organism. FEBS Journal 286:495–506. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14750.
- Riback JA, Bowman MA, Zmyslowski AM, Knoverek CR, Jumper JM, Hinshaw JR, Kaye EB, Freed KF, Clark PL, Sosnick TR (2017) Innovative scattering analysis shows that hydrophobic disordered proteins are expanded in water. *Science* 358:238–241. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aan5774.
- Roche J, Caro, JA, Norberto DR, Barthe P, Roumestand C, Schlessman JL, Garcia AE, Royer CA. (2012) Cavities determine the pressure unfolding of proteins. *Proceedings in National Academy of Sciences USA* 109: 6945–6950.
- Roche J, Royer CA, Roumestand C (2017) Monitoring protein folding through high pressure NMR spectroscopy. Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy 102–103:15–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnmrs.2017.05.003.
- Rodrigues AV, Batelu S, Hinton TV, Rotondo J, Thompson L, Brunzelle JS, Stemmler TL (2023) Drosophila melanogaster frataxin: protein crystal and predicted solution structure with identification of the iron-binding regions. Acta Crystallographic D Structural Biology 79:22–30. https://doi.org/10.1107/ S2059798322011639.
- Roman EA, Faraj SE, Cousido-Siah A, Mitschler A, Podjarny A, Santos J (2013) Frataxin from *Psychromonas ingrahamii* as a model to study stability modulation within the CyaY protein family. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1834:1168–1180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2013.02.015.
- Roumestand C, Dudas E, Puglisi R, Calio A, Barthe P, Temussi PA, Pastore A (submitted) Understanding the physical determinants of pressure denaturation: temperature switches the pressure-induced unfolding pathway
- Sanfelice D, Morandi E, Pastore A, Niccolai N, Temussi PA (2015) Cold denaturation unveiled: molecular mechanism of the asymmetric unfolding of yeast frataxin. *Chemphyschem* 16:3599–3602. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphc. 201500765.
- Sanfelice D, Politou A, Martin SR, De Los Rios P, Temussi P, Pastore A (2013) The effect of crowding and confinement: a comparison of Yfh1 stability in different environments. *Physical Biology* 10:045002. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1478-3975/10/4/045002.

- Seelig J, Seelig A (2023) Protein unfolding-thermodynamic perspectives and unfolding models. *International Journal of Molecular Science* 24:5457. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24065457.
- Simpson R, Kauzmann W (1953) The kinetics of protein denaturation, 1. The behavior of the optical rotation of ovalbumin in urea solutions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 75:5139–5152. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ja01117a001.
- Smeller L (2002) Pressure-temperature phase diagrams of biomolecules. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1595:11–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-4838 (01)00332-6.
- Smith AE, Zhang Z, Pielak GJ, Li C (2015) NMR studies of protein folding and binding in cells and cell-like environments. *Current Opinions in Structural Biology* 30:7–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2014.10.004.
- Söderberg CA, Shkumatov AV, Rajan S, Gakh O, Svergun DI, Isaya G, Al-Karadaghi S (2011) Oligomerization propensity and flexibility of yeast frataxin studied by X-ray crystallography and small-angle X-ray scattering. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 414:783–797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2011.10.034.
- Söderberg CAG, Rajan S, Shkumatov AV, Gakh O, Schaefer S, Ahlgren EC, Svergun DI, Isaya G, Al-Karadaghi S (2013) The molecular basis of ironinduced oligomerization of frataxin and the role of the ferroxidation reaction in oligomerization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288:8156–8167. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.442285.
- Szyperski T, Mills JL, Perl D, Balbach J (2006) Combined NMR-observation of cold denaturation in supercooled water and heat denaturation enables accurate measurement of deltaC(p) of protein unfolding. *European Biophysics Journal* 35:363–366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00249-005-0028-4.
- Tsai CL, Bridwell-Rabb J, Barondeau DP (2011) Friedreich's ataxia variants I154F and W155R diminish frataxin-based activation of the iron-sulfur cluster assembly complex. *Biochemistry* **50**:6478–87. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bi200666h.
- Vajpai N, Nisius L, Wiktor M, Grzesiek S (2013) High-pressure NMR reveals close similarity between cold and alcohol protein denaturation in ubiquitin. *Proceed*ings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110: E368–E376. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1212222110.
- Vilanova B, Sanfelice D, Martorell G, Temussi PA, Pastore A (2014) Trapping a saltdependent unfolding intermediate of the marginally stable protein Yfh1. Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences 1:13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2014.00013.
- Want K, D'Autréaux B (2024) Mechanism of mitochondrial [2Fe-2S] cluster biosynthesis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research* 1871: 119811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2024.119811.
- Yoshidome T, Kinoshita M (2012) Physical origin of hydrophobicity studied in terms of cold denaturation of proteins: comparison between water and simple fluids. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 14:14554–14566. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c2cp41738c.
- Zhou HX (2004) Loops, linkages, rings, catenanes, cages, and crowders: Entropy-based strategies for stabilizing proteins. Accounts of Chemical Research 37:123–130. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar0302282.

Zhou HX (2010) Speeding by a crowd. Physics (College Park Md) 3:77.

Zhou HX, Rivas G, Minton AP (2008) Macromolecular crowding and confinement: biochemical, biophysical, and potential physiological consequences. Annual Review of Biophysics 37:375–397. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.biophys.37.032807.125817.